
Homicides of Adults in Plymouth Colony, 1630-1692PRIVATE 

Class of death:   

Class of crime:   

Relationship:    

Motive:  


Intoxication?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:


Time of day:


Days until death:  


SUSPECT(s):


VICTIM(s):



Cause of death:  


Circumstances:   

Inquest:   


Indictment:  


Term of court:  


Court proceedings:  

Legal records:  
Newspapers:
Other Legal records:  
Census:  
Genealogy:  

Suspect:  



Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:



Age:




Phys char:



Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Personal history:  


Victim:  



Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:



Age:




Phys char:



Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Personal history:  


1630




Plymouth, PLY

HIST

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  GRUDGE -- "former quarrel"

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  [7]


HOM:  John Billington, Sr. m. John Newcomen


Weapon:  shot in shoulder by gun (blunderbuss).  d. several days later of infection.


Circumstances:  "waylaid" -- motive:  a "former quarrel."  Ambushed fired from behind a tree, one day when JB was out hunting.  [woods]


Inquest:  


Indictment?  yes, murder


Term?:  _/1630


Court proceedings:  pNG.  fG.  DEATH.  executed c. 9/30/1630

Source:  

Daniel Allen Hearn, Legal Executions in New England:  A Comprehensive Reference, 1623-1960 (Jefferson, North Carolina:  McFarland, 1999), 5-6.


William Bradford, Of Plymouth Plantation, 1620-1647, ed. Samuel Eliot Morison (New York:  Alfred A. Knopf, 1970), 234.  Also 87-8, 156-7, 442, 446.


234:  JB was "found guilty of wilful murder, by plain and notorious evidence.  And was for the same accordingly executed.  This, as it was the first execution amongst them, so was it a matter of great sadness unto them.  They used all due means about his trial and took the advice of Mr. Winthrop and other the ablest gentlemen in the Bay of the Massachusetts, that were then newly come over, who concurred with them that he ought to die, and the land to be purged from blood.  He and some of his had been often punished for miscarriages before, being one of the profanest families amongst them; they came from London, and I know not by what friends shuffled into their company.  His fact was that he waylaid a young man, one John Newcomen, about a former quarrel and shot him with a gun, whereof he died."


147-163:  JB was a supporter of Reverend Lyford and John Oldham, who lead an anti-separate faction in Plymouth Colony, whose "conspiracy" came to light in 1624.  A hotheaded group:  at one point, John Oldham threatened a ship's Captain with a knife (151), and JO was known for quarrelling with everyone, including Thomas Morton, who called him "Mad Jack."  (148n8)  



NOTE:  the quarrelsome character of JB & his friends -- very much a part of the turmoil of the Elizabethan-Jacobean period, in their personalities and willingness to confront adversaries physically.


Richard S. Dunn, James Savage, and Laetitia Yeandle, The Journal of John Winthrop, 1630-1649 (Cambridge:  The Belknap Press of Harvard Univ. Press, 1996), 40.



Entry of 9/30/1630:  "Billington executed at Plim[mouth] for murdering one ___."

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:

JB, Sr.:  came on the Mayflower with his wife, Ellen, & his sons, John and Francis.  JB, Sr.'s eldest son died before him, but his younger son survived, married, and had eight children.

Accused:  

John Billington, Sr. 

Ethnicity:

English

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


[40]

Literate:




Marital Status:  
m. Ellen

Children:

at least two sons, John and Francis

Occupation:

[farmer]

Town:


Plymouth [from London, Eng.]

Birthplace:

b. England

Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

John Newcomen

Ethnicity:

English

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult
"young man"

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Plymouth

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1633










PLY

LET

Class:   uncertain

Crime:   poss HOM

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  two Narragansett Indians suspected of m. a Plymouth man


Weapon:  unknown


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment?  


Term?:  


Court proceedings:  
Source:  
Chapin, Howard M. (1916) Documentary History of Rhode Island: Being the History of the Towns of Providence and Warwick to 1649 and of the Colony to 1647. Providence: Preston and Rounds, 1: 85-6.

Plymouth authorities ask Roger Williams to investigate the murder of a Plymouth man five years ago “(as they now hear) by two Narragansett Indians, between Plymouth and Sowwams.  I hope (if true) the Lord will discover it.”

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused:  

___

Ethnicity:

Narragansett

Race:


Ind

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  


___

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Plymouth

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1638, Aug.




Misquamsqueese, PLY

HIST

CT

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  ROBBERY / GENOCIDE / TERROR

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  [3]


HOM:  Arthur Peach, Thomas Jackson, Richard Stinnings, Daniell Cross m. Penowanyanquis


Weapon:  wounded with a rapier and left for dead.  d. a few days later


Circumstances:  by the highway, 12 mi. from Providence.  Robbery the motive.  The four accused men were running away from Mass. Bay or New Hampshire to the Dutch in New Netherland.  They were only passing through Plymouth.  AP was fleeing prosecution for having fathered an illegitimate child by a young servant woman, and the others were servants or apprentices fleeing their masters.  They stole "five fathome of wampeux, and three coates of wollen cloth."


Inquest:  


Indictment?  yes, murder


Term?:  9/1638


Court proceedings:  The accused were caught by Indians and turned over to the English for trial.  pNG.  all fG.  DEATH.  Hanged 9/4/1638, except for DC, who escaped to his colony, Piscataqua (New Hampshire), which gave him sanctuary.

Source:  

Daniel Allen Hearn, Legal Executions in New England:  A Comprehensive Reference, 1623-1960 (Jefferson, North Carolina:  McFarland, 1999), 7.


Nathaniel B. Shurtleff, ed., Records of the Colony of New Plymouth in New England (Boston:  W. White, 1855-1861), 1:  96-7.  See also 1:  111, 113, 27.


William Bradford, Of Plymouth Plantation, 1620-1647, ed. Samuel Eliot Morison (New York:  Alfred A. Knopf, 1970), 299-301.  WB described AP as the ringleader and the killer.  AP allegedly said at the time of the murder, "Hang him, rogue, he had killed many of them."  


"Arthur Peach was the chief of them, and the ringleader of all the rest.  He was a lusty and a desperate young man, and had been one of the soldiers in the Pequot War and had done as good service as the most there, and one of the forwardest in any attempt.  And being now out of means and loath to work, and falling to idle courses and company, he intended to go to the Dutch plantation; and had allured these three, being other men's servants and apprentices, to go with him.  But another cause there was also of his secret going away in this manner.  He was not only run into debt, but he had got a maid with child (which was not known until after his death), a man's servant in the town, and fear of punishment made him get away.  The other three complotting with him ran away from their masters in the night, and could not be heard of; for they went not the ordinary way, but shaped such a  course as they thought to avoid the pursuit of any.  But falling into the way that lieth between the Bay of Massachusetts and the Narragansetts, and being disposed to rest themselves, struck fire and took tobacco, a little out of the way by the wayside.



At length there came a Narragansett Indian by, who had been in the Bay a-trading, and had both cloth and beads about him--they had met him the day before, and he was now returning.  Peach called him to drink tobacco with them, and he came and sat down with them.  Peach told the other he would kill him and take what he had from him, but they were something afraid.  But he said, 'Hang him, rogue, he had killed many of them.'  So they let him alone to do as he would.  And when he saw his time, he took a rapier and ran him through the body once or twice and took from him five fathom of wampum and three coats of cloth and went their way, leaving him for dead.  But he scrambled away when they were gone, and made shift to get home, but died within a few days after.  By which means they were discovered.  And by subtlety the Indians took them; for they, desiring a canoe to set them over a water, not thinking their fact had been known, by the sachem's command they were carried to Aquidneck Island and there accused of the murder, and were examined and committed upon it by the English there.


The Indians sent for Mr. Williams and made a grievous complaint; his friends and kindred were ready to rise in arms and provoke the rest thereunto, some conceiving they should now find the Pequots' words true, that the English would fall upon them.  But Mr. Williams pacified them and told them they should see justice done upon the offenders, and went to the man and took Mr. James, a physician, with him.  The man told him who did it, and in what manner it was done; but the physician found his wounds mortal and that he could not live, as he after testified upon oath before the jury in open court.  And so he died shortly after, as both Mr. Williams, Mr. James and some Indians testified in court.


The Government in the Bay were acquainted with it but referred it hither because it was done in this jurisdiction; but expressed by all means that justice might be done in it, or else the country must rise and see justice done; otherwise it would raise a war.  Yet some of the rude and ignorant sort murmured that any English should be put to death for the Indians.  So at last they of the Island [Rhode Island] brought them hither, and being often examined and the evidence produced, they all in the end freely confessed in effect all that the Indian accused them of, and that they had done it in the manner aforesaid.  And so, upon the forementioned evidence, were cast by the jury and condemned, and executed for the same, September 4.  And some of the Narragansett Indians and of the party's friends were present when it was done, which gave them and all the country good satisfaction.  But it was a matter of much sadness to them here, and was the second execution which they had since they came; being both for wilful murder, as hath been before related.  Thus much of this matter."


NOTE:  AP was a true veteran of the Pequot War in his anti Indian sentiments


Richard S. Dunn, James Savage, and Laetitia Yeandle, The Journal of John Winthrop, 1630-1649 (Cambridge:  The Belknap Press of Harvard Univ. Press, 1996), 260-2.


Ditto Bradford's account.  On the execution of the three men:  "Two of them died very penitently, especially Arthur Peach, a young man of good parentage and fair conditioned, and who had done very good service against the Pequods.  The fourth escaped to Pascataquack.  The governour sent after him, but those of Pascataquack conveyed him away, and openly withstood his apprehension.  It was their usual manner (some of them) to countenance, etc., all such lewd persons as fled from us to them."


Roger Williams, A Key into the Language of America (London:  Gregory Dexter, 1643; reprinted Providence:  The Roger Williams Press, 1936), 124-5:  "I was once with a Native dying of a wound, given him by some murtherous English (who rob'd him and run him through with a Rapier, from whom in the heat of his wound, he at present escaped from them, but dying of his wound, they suffered death at new Plymouth, in New-England, this Native dying call'd much upon Muckquachuckquànd, which of other Natives I understood (as they believed) had appeared to the dying young man, many yeares before, and bid him when ever he was in distresse call upon him."

Chapin, Howard M. (1916) Documentary History of Rhode Island: Being the History of the Towns of Providence and Warwick to 1649 and of the Colony to 1647. Providence: Preston and Rounds, 1: 81-9.

ALS of Roger Williams to John Winthrop:  in the evening, an Indian told him that 4 Englishmen were “almost famished” at the Pawtucket River, 4 mi. from Providence.  Arthur Peach of Plymouth {“an Irishman”), John Barnes (“his man”), and 2 others from Pascataquack, traveling to Qunnihticut.  Had been lost 5 days.  They pleaded “soreness” and asked to rest at Providence.

They rested and left, then word came that they had murdered an Indian, who had carried beads and 3 beaverskins for Canonicus’s son, & came home with 5 fathom and 3 coats.  RW went to the victim, who was run through the leg and belly “with one thrust.”  Dressed and got him to town the next day, where he died of fever and blood loss.  The victim said that AP had run him through, but AP’s second blow missed & the victim fled into the woods and hid, so they could not kill him then and there.

ALS of Roger Williams to John Winthrop, 8/14/1638:  “The natives, friends of the slain, had consultacion to kill an Englishman in revenge.”  Miantonomi heard of it and urged the English to be careful on the highways and threatened the warriors and told them that the Governor [Roger Williams] “would see justice done.”  Orsamequin came from Plymouth and said all the men were guilty.  “I answered but one; he replied true, one wounded him, but all lay in wait 2 dayes, and assisted.  In conclusion, he told me tht the principall should not dye, as he was Mr. Winslowes man: and also that the man was by birth a Meepmuck man; so not worthy an other man should die for him.  I answered what I thought fit, but conceave there will be neede of wisedome and zeale in some, and remembrance of tht Vox Coeli:  He tht doth violence to the blood of any person, let him flee to the pit:  let none delivere him.  The Lord mercifully cleanse the land from blood, and make the bloud of his sonne Jesus more precious in all our eyes.”
ALS Roger Williams to John Winthrop:  after RW’s return from Plymouth, where he witnessed the executions.  The fourth suspect fled from Aquidneck in a pinnace.

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

Arthur Peach

Ethnicity:

[Scots-Irish]

“Irishman”
Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult
[young man]

Literate:

s

Marital Status:  


Children:

AP had gotten a young servant girl pregnant (Dorothy Temply, who had 2 yrs. left in service to Stephen Hopkins)

Occupation:

a soldier in the Pequot War; unemployed ("idle")
[laborer for Mr. Winslow]
Town:


Mass. Bay

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 2:  

Thomas Jackson

Ethnicity:

[Scots-Irish]
Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult
[young man]

Literate:




Marital Status:  
s

Children:




Occupation:

runaway servant or apprentice

Town:


Mass. Bay

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 3:  

Richard Stinnings

Ethnicity:

English

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult
[young man]

Literate:




Marital Status:  
s

Children:




Occupation:

runaway servant or apprentice

Town:


Mass. Bay

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 4:  

Daniell Cross 

Ethnicity:

English

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult
[young man]

Literate:




Marital Status:  
s

Children:




Occupation:

runaway servant or apprentice

Town:


Piscataqua (New Hampshire)

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Penowanyanquis

Ethnicity:

Narragansett

Race:


Ind

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:




Children:


Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:

by birth a Meepmuck, apparently adopted by the Narragansetts
Religion:




Organizations:



1646, [late May or early June]


Plymouth, PLY

HIST

Class:   probable

Crime:   HOM MANSL

Rela:    NONDOM SAILOR by CAPTAIN -- JUSTIFIED / SELF-DEFENSE

Motive:  CAPTAIN TRYING TO STOP A QUARREL ON HIS SHIP / 

INVERVENTING in QUARREL

Intox?:  yes, the victim

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  [3]


HOM:  Thomas Cromwell m. ___ Voysye


Weapon:  hilt of a rapier pierced his skull.  d. few days after.


Circumstances:  the victim quarreled with other sailors.  TC commanded him to silence.  The sailor reviled TC & ran at him with a rapier.  TC seized the rapier (which was still in its scabbard) & hit the sailor on the head with its hilt.


Inquest:  The General Court of Plymouth Colony impanneled a jury of inquest & found that V had died of wounds inflicted by TC, whereupon TC "was sent for on shore, he offred to putt himself upon tryall so as he might not be imrpisoned, & taht he might be tryed by a Councell of warre, both which were granted him."  [Winthrop, 627]


Indictment?  yes, mansl.


Term?:  


Court proceedings:  pNG.  fNG by a counsel of war gathered at Plymouth, composed of "the magistrates and other military officers" [a military matter, so not handled by the civil courts]

Source:  

Richard S. Dunn, James Savage, and Laetitia Yeandle, The Journal of John Winthrop, 1630-1649 (Cambridge:  The Belknap Press of Harvard Univ. Press, 1996), 626-7


William Bradford, Of Plymouth Plantation, 1620-1647, ed. Samuel Eliot Morison (New York:  Alfred A. Knopf, 1970), 345-6.  "About the middle of May this year came in three ships into this harbor, in warlike order.  They were found to be men of war.  The captain's name was Cromwell, who had taken sundry prizes from the Spaniards in the West Indies; he had a commission from the Earl of Warwick.  He had aboard his vessels about 80 lusty men, but very unruly, who after they came ashore, did so distemper themselves with drink as they became like madmen, and though some of them were punished and imprisoned, yet could they hardly be restrained.  Yet in the end they became more moderate and orderly.  They continued here about a month or six weeks, and then went to the Massachusetts, in which time they spent and scattered a great deal of money among the people, and yet more sin I fear than money, notwithstanding all the care and watchfulness that was used towards them to prevent what might be.



In which time one sad accident fell out.  A desperate fellow the company fell a-quarreling with some of his company.  His captain commanded him to be quiet and surcease his quarreling, but he would not, but reviled his captain with base language and in the end half drew his rapier and intended to run at his captain; but he closed with him and wrested his rapier from him and gave him a box on the ear.  But he would not give over, but still assaulted his captain; whereupon he took the same rapier as it was in the scabbard and gave him a blow with the hilt, but it lit on his head and the small end of the bar of the rapier hilt pierced his skull, and he died a few days after.  But the captain was cleared by a council of war.  This fellow was so desperate a quarreler, as the captain was fain many times to chain him under hatches from hurting his fellows, as the company did testify.  And this was the end.



This Captain Thomas Cromwell set forth another voyage to the West Indies from the Bay of Massachusetts, well manned and victualed, and was out three years, and took sundry prizes and returned rich unto the Massachusetts.  And there died the same summer, having got a fall from his horse, in which fall he fell on his rapier hilt and so bruised his body as he shortly after died thereof, with some other distempers which brought him into a fever.  Some observed that there might be something of the hand of God herein; that as the forenamed man died of the blow he gave him with the rapier hilt, so his own death was occasioned by a like means."


SEM's description, 345n1:  TC had come to Boston as a common sailor in 1636.  Subsequently entered the service of Captain [Thomas] Jackson [a British privateer], who was pirating around the Caribbean, using the Earl of Warwick's island of Old Providence off the coast of Nicaragua as base.  In May, 1646 he brought 2 prizes, cedar-built frigates of 60 & 80 tons, to Boston for sale, but was forced into Plymouth by a northwest gale after rounding Cape Cod.  TC arrived in Boston on June 10 & presented Gov. Winthrop with "a fine piece of loot," a sedan chair worth 50 l., said to have belonged to the Viceroy of Mexico.  Winthrop gave the chair as a propitiatory gift to Monsieur d'Aunay, when that lord of Acadia demanded 8000 l. damages for help given by Mass. Bay Colony to his rival La Tour.

Richard S. Dunn, James Savage, and Laetitia Yeandle, The Journal of John Winthrop, 1630-1649 (Cambridge:  The Belknap Press of Harvard Univ. Press, 1996), 626-7.  Ditto Bradford's story.  Winthrop believed that God's Providence had diverted TC's ships to Plymouth, "so directinge for the Comfort & helpe of that Towne which was now allmost deserted) where they continued about 14: dayes or more & spent liberally & gave freely to many of the poorer sorte."      TC "& all his men had muche money, & great store of plate & Iewells of great value.  yet he tooke up his lodginge in a poore thatched house & when he was offered the best in the Towne his Answer was, that in his meane estate that poore man entertained him, when others would not, & therefore he would not leave him now when he might doe him good.  he was ripped out of his mothers belly & never sucked nor sawe [father nore] mother, nor they him."  //  TC sold one of the ships to Robert Harding of Boston for 250 l. in July, 1646.  Agents for the Earl of Warwick contended that TC was selling Warwick's property.  //  JW learned of the mansl. of V in a letter dated 6/4/1646.

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused:  

Thomas Cromwell

Ethnicity:

English

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

Captain of privateer vessels.  Held a commission from the Early of Warwick; in charge of 3 men of war and 80 sailors who stayed at Plymouth.  Had been raiding in the Spanish West Indies, and had seized 4 or 5 Spanish vessels, which he carried to Plymouth.  Ten years early, TC had been a common seaman from Massachusetts.

Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

___ Voysye

Ethnicity:

English

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

sailor on one of ships under Cromwell's command

Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1649, Dec. 12



Plymouth, PLY

CT


NOTE:  no inquest or investigation, so probably an accident

Class:   do not count

Crime:   SUS / poss HOM / prob CAS [do not count as hom]

Rela:    

Motive:  

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  unk. person m. Ephraim Hickes


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  "died a violent death"


Indictment?  


Term?:  


Court proceedings:  
Source:  

Nathaniel B. Shurtleff, ed., Records of the Colony of New Plymouth in New England (Boston:  W. White, 1855-1861), 3:  202-3, 217-218.  [no other information]


The court is sorting out his estate for his mother, Margaret Hickes.  He "died a violent death."  "the night before his decease hee expressed a few words to Mr Thomas Southworth about the disposing of his outward estate."  The court granted the estate to Mistress Margaret Hickes, widow, the mother of Ephraim Hickes, "in her age and widdowhood."


A controversy ensued b/w Margaret Hickes, widow, and her son, Samuel Hickes, about the will of Robert Hickes (her late husband) and about the goods of Ephraim Hickes, "the younger" (son of RH & MH).

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:

EH:  son of Robert and Margaret Hickes, brother of Samuel Hickes.  [Seems that the EH in the land records was "the elder" EH.]

Accused:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:




Age:





Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Ephraim Hickes

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m


Age:


adult
Literate:




Marital Status:

[s]

Children:

[n]

Occupation:



Town:


Plymouth

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1651



[Scituate], PLY

CT


NOTE:  seems a question of who killed the victim, rather than a question of whether the victim was murdered.

Class:   possible

Crime:   poss HOM

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  [0]


HOM:  Walter Baker m. John Winter


Weapon:  unknown


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment?  bnf


Term?:  6/1651


Court proceedings:  Victim "suspected to have been murthered."  The suspect was "committed to ward by Mr Hatherley."  He "was examined this Court and cleared," but was then put under bond for 12 mo. if the court "shall see reason againe to call him in question at any time."

Source:  

Nathaniel B. Shurtleff, ed., Records of the Colony of New Plymouth in New England (Boston:  W. White, 1855-1861), 2:  170-1.


2:  139, 170, 172:  a related case?  George Russell of Scituate bound over to 10/7/1651 court "to answer for his uncivell and unreasonable beating of Katheren Winter."  fined 20 s. "for the good of the said Katheren."  Released for his bond and ordered (together with Isaak Stedman) to take down a fence that encroached on the common and on the highway.  //  6/1649, charged with "plowing and blocking highway."

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:

8:  259:  Catherine Winter of Scituate d. 12/28/1653.


3:  5:  3/1652:  Catherine Winter presented for fornication with her father-in-law, James Turner.  Punished at Scituate.


8:  182-3, 191:  JW a freeman, listed in 1643.

Accused:  

Walter Baker 

Ethnicity:

English

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


[Scituate]

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

John Winter

Ethnicity:

English

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

[farmer]

Town:


Scituate

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1660, Dec. 25



Eastham, PLY

CT

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM MANSL

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  2


HOM:  John Hawes m. Joseph Rogers 


Weapon:  threw him down.  d. 48 hrs.  [phys]


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment?  yes, mansl.  "by giveing him a most deadly fall, . . . whereof and whereupon hee did most vehemently complaine, and about 48 hours after died."


Term?:  3/1661


Court proceedings:  pNG.  fNG,

Source:  

Nathaniel B. Shurtleff, ed., Records of the Colony of New Plymouth in New England (Boston:  W. White, 1855-1861), 3:  205.

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Joseph Rogers [more than one?  seems so.  Which references are to the victim?]

2:  117:  6/1647, appted. Lt.

2:  53:  3/1643, granted 4 or 5 acres of meadow

2:  75, 88, 111, 112, 146, 177:  served on various juries, made land purchases with many prominent colonists, etc.  Well connected.

3:  206:  JR [the victim's] estate is settled.

3:  153:  10/1653, council of war, a Lt.

3:  142:  6/1658, with the court's blessing, JR purchjased Indian land for himself.  Small parcels.

3:  124-5:  a Joseph Rogers, "young man," son of John Rogers of Marshfield, together with Arthur Howland and Robert Huchin, a notorious Quaker, refuses to help a constable arrest RH.

3:  61-2:  a Joseph Rogers as a juror on a case involving a highway from Plymouth to Sandwich

8:  28:  Eastham, Joseph Rogers, Jr., deceased 1/27/1660 [actually 1661?]

Accused:  

John Hawes 

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Yarmouth

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Joseph Rogers

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult
[young man]

Literate:




Marital Status:

m. to Susanna Deane on 4/4/1660 at Eastham

Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Eastham

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1663



Eastham, PLY

CT

Class:   uncertain

Crime:   SUS / UNK / poss CAS / poss HOM

Rela:    

Motive:  

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  unk. person m. Josias (an Indian sachem)


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment?  


Term?:  3/1663


Court proceedings:  
Source:  

Nathaniel B. Shurtleff, ed., Records of the Colony of New Plymouth in New England (Boston:  W. White, 1855-1861), 4:  32-3.  [no other information]


Ephraim Done, John Knowles, Thomas Ridman, and John Wilson, convicted of selling liquor to Indians at Cape Cod & for permitting the Indians to have liquor (and fined 20s. each).  And ED & TR fined for allowing Indians to have liquor "in theire boate, it appeering that one of the Indians was drunke therby."  Court could not prove that they had sold Peter, an Indian, the "rundelett of liquor" found on him.  All four men were bound to appear at the 6/1663 session of the court to tell what they know about the death of Josias, an Indian sachem, at Eastham.


4/8:  SE 3/4/1662:  "Conserning a difference betwixt Quachattasett and Josias, of Nausett, Indian sachems, the Court have ordered Mr Aldin and Mr Hinckley to heare and determine the same."

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:




Age:





Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Josias

Ethnicity:



Race:


Ind

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

sachem

Town:


[Nausett]

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1673, Nov.



Rehoboth, PLY

CT

Class:   uncertain

Crime:   SUS / poss HOM MANSL or NAT

Rela:    MARITAL HUSBAND by WIFE

Motive:  ABUSE

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  [Joanna] Annadowne m. Roger Annadowne


Weapon:  violence suspected.  Buried 11/13/1673


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  i.d. 11/11/1673.  Verdict:  died of natural causes.  "occationed by some late striffe between his wife and him, hearing all evidences, pondering all circumstances, and viewing the corpes, wee find noe wound or bruise that might hasten his death."


Indictment?  no


Term?:  


Court proceedings:  
Source:  

Nathaniel B. Shurtleff, ed., Records of the Colony of New Plymouth in New England (Boston:  W. White, 1855-1861), 5:  141 (inquest).


5:  138-9:  settling RA's estate.  died intestate.  Disposition agreed between Joanna Annodowne and John Cobleck of Swansey, in behalf of Ebenezer (eldest son of RH), with advice and consent of John Harrod of Patucksett (the widow's brother).


--EA to receive 24 ac. of upland, a piece of salt marsh, and 50 l. commonage in Rehoboth, and 1 ac. of meadow in the so-called "40 acre meadow."


--Hannah Wheaton (wife of Jeremiah, daughter of RA) to received 1 ac. of "40 ac. meadow" and 10 ac. of upland at Wachamaucutt Necke.


--John Johnson:  RA's coat (22s.) and horse, harness, and cart (18s.)


--widow of RA:  to receive the remainder of the estate:  a house and 12 ac. around it, plus 50 l. commonage, and 3 or 4 ac. of upland at Deare Hill.  On her death, equal shares of the property are to go to her children, Philip and Henry Annadowne.


4:  13, 83, 84; and 3:  158:  RA served on coroner's juries in Rehobth for Robert Allin (4/1662), Reb. Sale (7/1664), and Nathaniel West (3/1659).  RA's wife was a witness at the inquest into Elizabeth Walker's drowning (8/1664).


4:  18, 96:  Land grants.  6/1665:  50 ac. at Ten Mile River, Rehoboth.  6/1662:  grant with others on Saconett Neck.

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:

8: 52:  burial of Roger Annadowne, 11/13/1673

Accused:  

[Joanna] Annadowne 

Ethnicity:

English

Race:


w

Gender:

f

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  
m. Roger

Children:




Occupation:

farm wife

Town:


Reheboth

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Roger Annadowne

Ethnicity:

English

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:

m. [Joanna]

Children:




Occupation:

farmer

Town:


Reheboth

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1675, Jan. 29




Plymouth

D

TRACT

CT

HIST
Class:   probable

Crime:   HOM \ MURDER

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  POLITICAL

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  0


HOM:  Tobias, Wampapaam (son of Tobias), & Mattushamana m. John Sassamon.  [Lapore's spellings:  Wampapaquan & Mattashunannamo]


Weapon:  at Assowamsett Pond:  struck him, twisted his neck, broke his neck & cast his body into a hole in the ice on the pond.  [phys]


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment?  yes, murder


Term?:  6/1675


Court proceedings:  In March, 1675, T. posted a bond to appear.  pNG.  All 3 fG (by a jury composed of Englishmen and Indians).  DEATH.  T & M hanged 6/8/1675; W:  shot in July, 1675.

Source:  
Daniel Allen Hearn, Legal Executions in New England:  A Comprehensive Reference, 1623-1960 (Jefferson, North Carolina:  McFarland, 1999), 48-9.

Hubbard, NARRATIVE, 14-16.

Increase Mather, "Diary," in Proceedings of the Massachusetts
Historical Society, ser. 2, 13 (1899-1900), 399.


2/1675 (399):  news arrives of the murder of John Sausaman, the Indian.  "He was one of the Indian Preachers, of excellent parts & as Mr Eliot thinks a sincere Convert."

Nathaniel B. Shurtleff, ed., Records of the Colony of New Plymouth in New England (Boston:  W. White, 1855-1861), 5:  159, 167-8.


A murder committed on a Christian Indian by three of King Philip's chief counselors (Wampanoag Indians), allegedly because JS had travelled in Jan., 1675 to Plymouth to warn the governor, Josiah Winslow, that Philip was trying to unite all the sachems in a war against the English.  JS told JW that he believed his (JS's) life was in danger.  JW offered no reward or protection, and did not take the report seriously.


Witnesses for the prosecution:  Patuckson, who claimed he was an unseen eyewitness to the killing; & William Nahauton, a Christian Indian from Natick who had heard of the plot to kill JS & who had revealed what he knew to the English.  WN & his brother, Anthony Nahauton, had been sent with JS to preach to the Wampanoags at Plymouth in 1671 in an effort to prevent a war that nearly broke out in that year (Philip backed down at the last moment).


Lapore:  a murder:  no water in lungs & neck broken, which are inconsistent with accidental drowning.  Not certain who murdered JS & there is reason to doubt the credibility of the witnesses who testified at the trial.  But JS was caught between two worlds.  He was a literate Indian and Christian minister at the Indian praying town of Namasket (not far from Mount Hope, Philip's home).  And he had served as an advisor / translator for King Philip:  not wholly in either world, and not wholly trusted in either world.  A risky position.  Many possible motives:  exposing King Philip's plan for war; annoying King Philip with his proselytizing; cheating Philip out of land & money while he served as Philip's translator.  


Lapore's THESIS:  "Although they shape and size of the possible motives vary, they cast an identical shadow:  behind each of them lies the specter of John Sassamon's position as a cultural mediator, as a man who was neither English nor Indian but who negotiated with both peoples.  And for Sassamon, the ability to hold this mediating position was predicated on his bilingualism and his literacy--his skill at speaking, reading, and writing English was intricately intertwined with his loyalty to the English, his conversion to Christianity, his betrayal of Philip, and even his ability to cheat Philip in the writing of his will.  In a sense, literacy killed John Sassamon."  (25)


Lapore:  JS probably learned English at an early age, raised as an orphan in an English home.  1637:  a Sassamon served as an interpreter & fought with the English (under Sgt. Richard Callicott of Dorchester) in the Pequot War.  That Sassamon returned to Dorchester after the war with a Pequot woman captive who later became his wife.  //  JS served John Eliot as a translator, interpreter, & teacher to the Indians.  Helped Eliot & furthered Eliot's missionary work for forty years.  

 
    When Eliot founded Natick in 1650 as a praying town for Christian Indians, JS helped build the town & served as one of its schoolmasters.  Eliot arranged for JS to attend Harvard College for at least one semester, in 1653.  [An Indian college finally built at Harvard in 1655, but not known if it was ever used as such.]  [1658:  Eliot imports press, fonts, & a pressman to publish books in native languages.  1659:  James Printer (an Indian) begins apprenticeship at the Cambridge Press.  1663:  the lst ed. of the complete Massachusetts Bible printed at Cambridge.]


     1662:  Massasoit dies, Alexander succeeds him; JS begins working for Alexander.  Alexander dies.  Philips assumed sachemship & JS begins working for him.


     1664:  JS is teaching Philip to read.  JS continues to serve Philip as scribe & translator.


     1671:  Philip is reported arming for war but is subdued.  Eliot orders JS to attempt to convert Philip.


     1673:  JS is deeded land in Namasket, where he becomes minister.

Jill Lepore, The Name of War:  King Philip's War and the Origins of American Identity (New York:  Alfred A. Knopf, 1998), 21-47 ["Beware of Any Linguist"  chapter on JS's murder & its repercussions].


1675, Plymouth justice severely challenged by King Philip, 3 of his men having been convicted of murdering the Indian John Sassamon and sentenced to death, "at a time when public feeling against the Wampanoags was running high," on testimony of the Indian Patuckson, who claimed to have seen the murder committed.  At odds with requirement in Mass. Bay that two witnesses were necessary to convict.


Ronda article; & Douglas Edward Leach, FLINTLOCK AND TOMAHAWK:  NEW ENGLAND IN KING PHILIP'S WAR (NY:  Macmillan, 1958), 32.


Also, when Wampapaquan, one of the Wampanoags sentenced to die for murder of John Sassaman, & the last to die, was swung into the air, the rope broke, knocking him to the ground.  He was afterwars "sott to death within said month."  [PLYMOUTH RECORDS, 5: 167.]

Smith, COLONIAL JUSTICE IN WESTERN MASSACHUSETTS, 85-6, for another case.

Kawashima, 232-3:  the jury had 12 whites & 4 auxiliary Indian jurors, who were Xian Indians, not Philip's men.  No earnest attempt made to negotiate w/ Philip about the trial.

Yasuhide Kawashima, PURITAN JUSTICE AND THE INDIAN:  WHITE MAN'S LAW IN MASSACHUSETTS, 1630-1763 (Middletown, CT:  Wesleyan UP, 1986), 129, 131, 133-4, 232-3.

Douglas Edward Leach, Flintlock and Tomahawk:  New England in King Philip's War (New York:  Macmillan, 1959), 30-33.

Original Sources
William Hubbard, A Narrative of the Troubles with the Indians in New-England (Boston, 1677), 1:  60-4; reprinted in Samuel Gardner Drake, ed., The History of the Indian Wars in New England (New York:  Burt Franklin, 1865; Bowie, Md.:  Heritage Books, 1990).

Cotton Mather, Magnalia Christi Americana (1702; Hartford, CT, 1840), 559-60.

Increase Mather, A Brief History of the Warr with the Indians in New-England (London, 1676), 47-53; reprinted in Samuel Gardner Drake, ed., The History of King Philip's War (Albany, NY:  J. Munsell, 1862; Bowie, Md.:  Heritage Books, 1990).

Increase Mather, A Relation of the Troubles which have hapned in New-England (Boston, 1677), 74-5.

Saltonstall, The Present State of New England with Respect to the Indian War (London, 1675), 24-5; reprinted in Lincoln, Narratives of the Indian Wars, 53-74.

Saltonstall, A Continuation of the State of New England (London, 1676), 54-55; reprinted in Lincoln, Narratives of the Indian Wars, 53-74.

Scholarly Sources
David Bushnell, "The Treatment of the Indians in Plymouth Colony," New England Quarterly, 26 (1953), 214-215.

James Drake, "Symbol of a Failed Strategy:  The Sassamon Trial, Political Culture, and the Outbreak of King Philip's War," American Indian Culture and Research Journal, 19 (1995), 111-141.

James P. and Jeane Ronda, "The Death of John Sassamon:  An Exploration in Writing New England Indian History," American Indian Quarterly, 1 (1974), 91-102.

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

Tobias

Ethnicity:

Wampanoag

Race:


Ind

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 2:  Wampapaam (son of Tobias)  [Lapore's spelling:  Wampapaquan]

Ethnicity:

Wampanoag

Race:


Ind

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 3:  
Mattushamana [Lapore's spelling:  Mattashunannamo]

Ethnicity:

Wampanoag

Race:


Ind

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

John Sassamon

Ethnicity:



Race:


Ind

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:

yes, attended Harvard College

Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

minister; teacher, interpreter, translator, missionary

Town:


Namasket

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1676, March 12



New Plymouth, PLY

CT

D

Class:   do not count

Crime:   WAR

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  GENOCIDE / TERROR / POLITICAL

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  Woodcocke, Quanapawhan, John Num, (aided and abetted by Keeweenam) and others m. Mistress Sarah Clarke and 10 other English persons.  Accused of complicity:  Impr Tatoson, Thomas Piant, Musquash, Sanballett, Wapanpowett, Thomas (Tatoson's brother), Vttsooweest, Woonashenah.


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  attack on William Clarke's isolated garrison house on the Eel River.  Totoson and a small band of warriors k. 11 people


Inquest:  


Indictment?  yes, murder.  


Term?:  7/1676


Court proceedings:  all four pG.  DEATH.  Executed immediately -- beheaded.  Witnesses:  W & Q were accused of the murder by an Indian squaw and by John Num.

Source:  

Nathaniel B. Shurtleff, ed., Records of the Colony of New Plymouth in New England (Boston:  W. White, 1855-1861), 5:  204-6, 209.


M. Halsey Thomas, ed., The Diary of Samuel Sewall, 1674-1729 (New York:  Farrar, Straus and Giroux, 1973), 18.  



Entry of 7/9 & 10/1675:  "This week Indians come in at Plymouth to prove themselves faithful, fetch in others by force:  Among those discovered are some that murdered Mr. Clark's family:  viz, two Indians:  they accuse one of them that surrendered to the English.  All three put to death."


Douglas Edward Leach, Flintlock and Tomahawk:  New England in King Philip's War (New York:  Macmillan, 1959), 166.  DEL called the victims "defenseless."

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

Woodcocke

Ethnicity:



Race:


Ind

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 2:  

Quanapawhan

Ethnicity:



Race:


Ind

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 3:  

John Num

Ethnicity:



Race:


Ind

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 4:  

Keeweenam

Ethnicity:



Race:


Ind

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Mistress Sarah Clarke

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

f

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:

m. William

Children:




Occupation:



Town:


New Plymouth

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1676, [Mar. 12]



[New Plymouth], PLY

CT

Class:   do not count

Crime:   WAR

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  GENOCIDE / TERROR / POLITICAL

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  John Num (one of the company) m. Jacob Mitchell, ___ Mitchell (his wife), and John Pope


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  not on the field of battle


Inquest:  


Indictment?  yes, murder.  "not against such as killed his enimie in the field in a souldier like way"


Term?:  6/1676


Court proceedings:  pG.  DEATH.  Executed.

Source:  

Nathaniel B. Shurtleff, ed., Records of the Colony of New Plymouth in New England (Boston:  W. White, 1855-1861), 5:  205.

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused:  

John Num

Ethnicity:



Race:


Ind

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Jacob Mitchell

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:

m

Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 2:  

___ Mitchell 

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

f

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:

m. to Jacob

Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 3:  

John Pope

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



[1675 or 1676]



PLY

CT

Class:   do not count

Crime:   WAR

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  GENOCIDE / TERROR / POLITICAL

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  Timothy Jacked (aka Canjuncke), Nassamaquat, and Pumpacanshe m. John Knowles, John Tisdall, Sr., and Samuel Attkins


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment?  yes, murder


Term?:  3/1677


Court proceedings:  pNG.  TJ & N:  "very suspicious of the murder charged on them."  P:  fNG.  all were sent out of the country speedily (even P, because he was a prisoner of war)

Source:  

Nathaniel B. Shurtleff, ed., Records of the Colony of New Plymouth in New England (Boston:  W. White, 1855-1861), 5:  224.

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

Timothy Jacked (aka Canjuncke)

Ethnicity:



Race:


Ind

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 2:  

Nassamaquat

Ethnicity:



Race:


Ind

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 3:  

Pumpacanshe

Ethnicity:



Race:


Ind

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

John Knowles

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 2:  

John Tisdall, Sr.

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 3:  

Samuel Attkins

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1678



PLY

CT

Class:   possible

Crime:   poss HOM or MANSL

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  0


HOM:  Ephraim Doan m. James Pequin


Weapon:  unknown


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment?  bnf


Term?:  7/1678


Court proceedings:  bound to appear for trial in court in 10/1678.  "This Court, being an incapassite to make tryall therof, in regard of the absence of the grand inquest," refered the case to trail in Oct., 1678.  [no record of such a trial].  Suspected by Jawannum (the wife of JP) and by Nicholas "to have bin an occation of the violent death of the said Pequin, her husband."

Source:  

Nathaniel B. Shurtleff, ed., Records of the Colony of New Plymouth in New England (Boston:  W. White, 1855-1861), 5:  264-5 (the hearing).

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:

5:  27:  Ephraim Doan of Eastham fined 20s. for slandering his neighbors.  10/1669.


4:  32-33:  3/1663:  fined with others for trading liquor with Indians and letting them drink in their boat and get drunk at Cape Cod.


4:  46:  10/1663, ED filed a complaint against 3 Indians.  He did not appear, so each was granted 5s. in costs.


8: 57.  ED's marriage, children.

Accused:  

Ephraim Doan 

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status: 
 m. to Mercy Knowles at Eastham, 2/5/1667 [1668]

Children:

yes:  Patience (b. 1/28/1668[1669]); Apphiah (b. 7/28/1670)

Occupation:



Town:


[Eastham] (most Doans live there, seems like he does too)

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  


James Pequin

Ethnicity:



Race:


Ind

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:

m. to Jawannum 

Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Billingate

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1681, Nov. 21



Barnstable, PLY

CT

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM MANSL

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  21


HOM:  James m. Samuell Crocker


Weapon:  knife to belly.  d. 3 weeks later


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment?  yes, murder


Term?:  3/1682


Court proceedings:  pNG.  fNG of willful murder

Source:  

Nathaniel B. Shurtleff, ed., Records of the Colony of New Plymouth in New England (Boston:  W. White, 1855-1861), 6:  82.

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:

SC:  5:  34, 55, 144, 277; 8: 43:   son of William, who was a deputy and freeman in Barnstable.


James:  is either the same James?  6:  101, 190.  


--an Indian named James (living at Swanzey with Anthony Lee) asked for his freedom, 10/1683--had been bound for supporting the rebellion.  


--an Indian named James of Nausett, convicted 6/1686 of stealing a hog from James Cooke.

Accused:  

James 

Ethnicity:



Race:


Ind

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  


Samuell Crocker

Ethnicity:

English

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


39

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Barnstable

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1684, March 31



Scituate, PLY

CT


NOTE:  A tough case to classify:  did they whip the accused because he was black or because he bore some culpability and shot deliberately at the house?  Given the damages, however, it seems a standard gun accident.

Class:   uncertain

Crime:   prob CAS GUN / poss HOM MANSL

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  Robert Trayes m. Daniel Standlake


Weapon:  fired a gun at the door of Richard Standlake.  Wounded and shattered the leg of Daniel Standlake, who died of the wound


Circumstances:  at the house of Richard Standlake [home victim]


Inquest:  


Indictment?  yes, murder


Term?:  7/1684


Court proceedings:  pNG.  fG of causing the death of DS by misadventure.  To pay 3 l. in damages to RS and 2 l. to the country, and to be whipped

Source:  

Nathaniel B. Shurtleff, ed., Records of the Colony of New Plymouth in New England (Boston:  W. White, 1855-1861), 6:  141-2.  [no other entries in the records]

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused:  
Robert Trayes 

Ethnicity:



Race:


b

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Scituate

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Daniel Standlake

Ethnicity:

English

Race:


[w]

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Scituate

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1685



PLY

CT

Class:   probable

Crime:   HOM MANSL

Rela:    MARITAL HUSBAND by WIFE

Motive:  [ABUSE]

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  Betty m. Great Harry


Weapon:  threw a stone and hit him on the side of the head.  The accused claimed that she had aimed the rock at a bottle and had missed, hitting him on the head.


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment?  yes, murder


Term?:  3/1685


Court proceedings:  pNG.  fG of "homicide by misadventure"

Source:  

Nathaniel B. Shurtleff, ed., Records of the Colony of New Plymouth in New England (Boston:  W. White, 1855-1861), 6:  153-4.


6:  113:  the same Betty suspected on infanticide in 1683?  [no other entries in records]

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused:  

Betty 

Ethnicity:



Race:


Ind

Gender:

f

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  
m. Great Harry

Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Great Harry

Ethnicity:



Race:


Ind

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:

m. Betty

Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1689





Bristol, PLY

CT

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  John Armung de la Forest m. a fellow Frenchman


Weapon:  unknown


Circumstances:  at trial at a court in Bristol, sentenced to death.  Shortly before date of execution, he escaped & fled to New York, where he was caught in 1690.  He was jailed in Boston & then was returned under guard to Plymouth on 7/30/1690, & hanged 7/31.  His request on 7/30 that he "might go forth to warr in the service of the countrey" was denied.  "The above named prisoner immediately before his execution confessed himself guilty of the murder and fact for which he was condemned."


Inquest:  


Indictment?  


Term?:  Bristol


Court proceedings:  fG.  DEATH.  Hanged 7/31/1690.

Source:  

Nathaniel B. Shurtleff, ed., Records of the Colony of New Plymouth in New England (Boston:  W. White, 1855-1861), 7: 305-7.


Daniel Allen Hearn, Legal Executions in New England:  A Comprehensive Reference, 1623-1960 (Jefferson, North Carolina:  McFarland, 1999).

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused:  

John Armung de la Forest

Ethnicity:

French

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  


___

Ethnicity:

French

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Suspect(s








